S226036

No. S

Service on Attorney General required by Rule 8.29(c)(1)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Exempt from Filing Fees Government Code § 6103

City of San Buenaventura Plaintiff and Respondent / Cross-Appellant.

VS.

United Water Conservation District and Board of Directors of United Water Conservation District Defendants and Appellants / Cross-Respondents

SUPREME COURT Territoria Comer To

RESPONDENT AND CROSS-APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

APR 2 8 2015

of a Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division 6, Case No. B251810

Frank A. McGuire Clerk Deputy

QUESTIONS FOR REVIEW

- What standard of appellate review applies to questions
 of constitutional fact arising under California
 Constitution, articles XIII C and XIII D¹ when a case is
 tried on an administrative record?
- 2. If the substantial evidence standard applies at all, is it limited to factual questions determined on extra-record evidence admitted despite the rule of *Western States*Petroleum Association v. Superior Court?²
- 3. Are groundwater augmentation service charges subject to Proposition 218³ or Proposition 26?⁴

¹ Unspecified article and section references are to the California Constitution.

² (1995) 9 Cal.4th 559 (judicial review of agency action generally confined to administrative record).

³ Cal. Const., art. XIII D, § 6.

⁴ Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).

- 4. Does the regulatory fee analysis of *Apartment Association* of Los Angeles County, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles⁵ apply to fees for property related services?
- 5. Does the test established in *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd.*of Equalization⁶ to distinguish regulatory fees from taxes
 survive Proposition 26?⁷
- 6. Does Water Code section 75594's requirement for at least a 3:1 ratio of fees on non-agricultural use of groundwater to such fees on agricultural use survive the adoption of articles XIII C and XIII D?8

⁵ (2001) 24 Cal.4th 830 (fee on landlords to fund Housing Code enforcement not property related fee within Cal. Const., art. XIII D, § 6).

⁶ (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 (fee on paint manufacturer to remediate health impacts of environmental lead contamination not tax under Proposition 13).

⁷ This question is also presented by the petition for review in *Jacks v*. *City of Santa Barbara* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 925, review filed Apr. 7, 2015, No. S225589. Accordingly, it may be appropriate to grant both petitions and to hold briefing in one case or the other under California Rules of Court, rule 8.512, subd. (d).

⁸ Similar questions regarding Proposition 26's cost-of-service limitation on service and regulatory fees (art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)) are pending in *Citizens for Fair REU Rates v. City of Redding* (2015) 233

INTRODUCTION

This case allows this Court to resolve a square conflict between two published opinions:

- the instant case, upholding a 3:1 ratio of groundwater fees on non-agricultural groundwater users to fees on farmers by applying a very lenient view of 2010's Proposition 26; and,
- Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency v. AmRhein (2007)
 150 Cal.App.4th 1364 (AmRhein), concluding such fees
 are subject to Proposition 218.9

United Water Conservation District (the "District") imposes charges on groundwater pumping which require the City of San

Cal.App.4th 402, review filed Mar. 3, 2015, No. S224779.

Accordingly, it may be appropriate to grant both petitions and hold briefing in one case or the other under California Rules of Court, rule 8.512(d).

⁹ The Sixth District amplified its analysis in *Great Oaks Water Co. v. Santa Clara Valley Water District* (Mar. 26, 2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 523. Decided eight days after the instant case, *Great Oaks* did not cite it. Perhaps for that reason, the Sixth District granted rehearing April 24, 2015. Although the case may be cited under California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115, this Court may wish to note the pending appeal as it seems likely to produce relevant published authority while the present petition is pending.

Buenaventura ("the City") and other non-agricultural groundwater users to shoulder a disproportionate share of the cost of the District's services. It does so in two ways. First, it requires users in one groundwater basin to pay costs incurred to benefit those in others. Second, it requires non-agricultural groundwater users to pay three times what farmers pay — not because it costs the District more to serve such users, but because a 1965 statute so requires. Of course, California voters have since amended our Constitution three times to limit such fees to cost. This case tests whether our Constitution permits disproportionate charges not shown to be based on cost of service.

The published opinion of which review is sought here ("Opinion") makes a tortured effort to avoid Propositions 218 and 26, purporting to distinguish *AmRhein*. The Opinion conflicts with at least two other published opinions, as well.

Accordingly, review is appropriate under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subdivision (b)(1) to secure uniformity of decision and to resolve important questions regarding the application of articles XIII C and XIII D.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The District was formed under the Water Conservation

District Law of 1931 (Wat. Code, § 74000 et seq.) to manage
groundwater use in eight basins along the Santa Clara River in

Ventura County and to provide imported water and other water

services (AR1, Tab 22, at p. 36; AR2, Tab 106, at p. 21 [same]). ¹⁰ Its charges are imposed on all who pump groundwater in the District, including retailers, farmers, and rural residents. (AR1, Tab 62, at pp. 30 [list of 10 largest customers], 38 [nursery and residential customers]; AR2, Tab 53, at pp. 30, 38 [same].)

The City's water utility is among these. (AR1, Tab 62, at p. 30; AR2, Tab 53, at p. 30 [same].) It serves some 30,000 customers using wells in four basins. (AR1, Tab 78, at pp. 1, 8, 13; AR2, Tab 165, at p. 1, 21.)

The District imposes fees in a District-wide Zone A and a smaller Zone B, which recovers the cost of the Freeman Diversion Dam. It also distinguishes agricultural from other users of groundwater, charging agricultural users much less for the same service.

I. THE EIGHT BASINS

Although interconnected to some degree, the eight basins are distinguished by geologic features such as earthquake faults. (See, e.g., AR2, Tab 165, at p. 21.) Accordingly, the District's recharge

¹⁰ This appeal is from consolidated challenges to the District's rates for fiscal years 2011–2012 and 2012–2013. "AR1" refers to the 2011–2012 administrative record and "AR2" to the 2012–2013 record. Citations are in this form: AR[1 or 2], Tab [#] at pp. [#–#]. AR2 cites to identical documents in a preceding AR1 cite are marked "[same]".

efforts benefit some basins more than others. (AR1, Tab 16, at p. 122; AR1, Tab 28, at pp. 62–63.) According to the District's 1998 Surface and Groundwater Conditions Report, "The groundwater basins within the District vary in their water production and ability to be recharged rapidly. The hydraulic connection between basins also varies across the District." (AR1, Tab 28, at p. 16; AR2, Tab 177, at p. 16 [same].)

The most significant overdraft occurs in agricultural areas of the southeast Oxnard Plain and Pleasant Valley basins — from which the City does not pump. (AR1, Tab 62, at p. 34; AR2, Tab 53, at p. 34 [same]; see also AR2, Tab 165, at p. 21.)

The District nevertheless imposes uniform rates throughout Zone A, regardless of the basin from which a user pumps. (AR1, Tab 62, at p. 30, citing Wat. Code, § 75592; AR2, Tab 53, at p. 30 [same]). In its 2012–2013 rate-making —conducted after the City filed the first of two suits at bar — the District disclosed newfound "evidence" suggesting eight basins it and the State Department of Water Resources have distinguished for decades actually function as a "common pool." (AR2, Tab 54, at pp. 4–5 [Update to 2011 Water Rate Study].) This evidence dates from the 1950s, and was subsequently abandoned for half a century in light of the more accurate and recent studies cited above. (See AR1, Tab 10, at p. 19.)

The District ignores its common pool theory, however, to distinguish those who benefit from the Freeman Diversion Dam

(who pay Zone B and Zone A charges) from others who pay only Zone A charges. (AR1, Tab 72, at p. 3; AR2, Tab 149, at p. 3 [same].) If the entire District is a "common pool," how can this be? While the District defends its Zone A charge on its new-found "common pool" theory, its maintenance of a smaller Zone B indicts its own theory. The District has never explained this inconsistency and the Opinion makes no mention of it.

II. CUSTOMER CLASSES

The District distinguishes non-agricultural groundwater users from farmers. Agricultural use includes that for production of crops, livestock and aquaculture. Non-agricultural use includes most other uses, including outdoor irrigation and retail water service. Although farmers and others pump from groundwater basins in common and receive the same service, non-farm users pay three times what agricultural users pay. (AR1, Tab 72, at p. 4; AR2, Tab 149, at p. 4 [same]; see also AR1, Tab 62, at p. 32 [discussing Wat. Code § 75594]; AR2, Tab 53, at p. 32 [same].) This reflects the 1965 mandate of Water Code section 75594.

The District applies the 3:1 ratio to both District-wide Zone A and Freeman Diversion Zone B charges. (AR1, Tab 22, at p. 78 [FY 2011–2012 budget]; AR2, Tab 106, at p. 67 [FY 2012–2013 budget].)

III. THE CHALLENGED RATES

On June 8, 2011, the District adopted FY 2011–2012 charges, leaving Zone B rates unchanged. (AR1, Tab 65; AR1, p. 1; AR 1, Tab 72, p. 4.) It increased Zone A charges 46 percent from \$58.50 to \$85.50 per acre-foot for non-farm users and from \$19.50 to \$28.50 for agriculture. (AR1, Tab 65, at p. 1.)

In doing so, the District complied with Proposition 218's notice and hearing procedures for new or increased property related fees under article XIII D, section 6. (AR1, Tab 64; AR1, Tab 65 at p. 1; see also AR1, Tab 73, at pp. 11–12.) The City timely protested. (AR1 Tabs 78, 79.) When its protest went unheeded, it sued. (1 JA, Tab 1.)¹¹

On June 13, 2012, the District increased Zone A charges another 39 percent — more than doubling the charges in two years. (See AR2, Tab 142, at p. 1.) The new rates were \$29.75 per acre-foot for farmers and \$119.50 for others. (*Ibid.*) It maintained the Zone B charges, including the 3:1 ratio benefiting agriculture. (AR2, Tab 149 at p. 4.)

As in 2011, the District employed Proposition 218's hearing procedures. (AR2, Tab 142, at p. 2.) The City again protested unsuccessfully and sought judicial review. (4 JA, Tab 33, at p. 690.)

¹¹ Citations to the Joint Appendix are in the form: [Volume] JA, [Tab #], at p. [#].

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 5, 2011 the City filed a Petition for Writ of Traditional Mandate (Code of Civ. Proc. § 1085), a Petition for Administrative Mandate (Code of Civ. Proc. § 1094.5), a Complaint for Declaratory Relief, and a Complaint for Determination of Invalidity under Code of Civil Procedure section 863. (1 JA, Tab 1, at p. 1.) The City alleged the FY 2011–2012 rates violated Propositions 218, 13, and 26, the common law of ratemaking, and Government Code section 54999.7. (1 JA, Tab 1, at p. 1.) The City filed in Ventura and moved for neutral venue pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 394; the case was transferred to Santa Barbara. (2 JA, Tab 336).

On August 7, 2012, the City challenged the FY 2012–2013 charges, mirroring the first case. (4 JA, Tab 33, at p. 690.) The City related the cases. (4 JA, Tab 39, at p. 795; 4 JA, Tab 40, at p. 800.) The City again filed in Ventura, but the parties stipulated to Santa Barbara venue.

The District lodged administrative records for the two cases, which the Court consolidated for trial. (4 JA, Tab 41, at p. 804 [Notice of Lodging of AR1]; 9 JA, Tab 73, at p. 1768 [Certification of AR2]; 5 JA, Tab 55, at p. 980 [Case Mgmt. Order (10/23/12) § 7(A)].)

After bench trial on the administrative records, the trial court determined:

- The District's charges are "property related fees" subject to Proposition 218. (10 JA, Tab 88, at p. 2123.)
- The District did not prove compliance with the
 proportional cost requirement of article XIII D, section
 6, subdivision (b)(3) because it imposed different rates
 on farmers than on others. (*Ibid.*)
- The administrative records show the District based the charges on Water Code section 75594's mandate of a 3:1 ratio, not any demonstrated difference in the cost to serve farmers and others. (*Id.* at p. 2157.)
- The District satisfied the other constitutional, statutory and common law standards the City pleaded. (*Id.* at pp. 2140 [Prop. 13], 2150 [Prop. 26], 2151 [common law of utility ratemaking and Gov. Code § 54999.7].)

The trial court ordered a refund of charges in excess of what the City would have paid under uniform rates as well as prejudgment interest. (12 JA, Tab 112, at p. 2578.)

The City gave notice of entry of judgment September 12, 2013 and the District timely appealed October 1, 2013. (12 JA, Tab 114, at p. 2590.) The City timely cross appealed October 21, 2013. (12 JA, Tab 116, at p. 2615.)

Following principal and amicus briefing, the Court of Appeal requested supplemental briefing on the impact of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act adopted in 2014 (A.B. 1739,

S.B. 1168, and S.B. 1319). The Opinion issued March 17, 2015, concluding:

- The District's groundwater extraction charges are not subject to Proposition 218, but to Proposition 26, notwithstanding the contrary conclusions of *AmRhein* and *Griffith v. Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 586 (*Griffith*); and
- The District's groundwater extraction charges survive
 Proposition 26 review because the fees did not exceed
 the District's service cost in toto and because substantial
 evidence in the appellate record supported the trial
 court's conclusion the rates are fair and reasonable.

The Opinion applies the first of two prongs of this Court's Proposition 13 analysis in *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Board of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 (*Sinclair Paint*) requiring a bona fide regulatory purpose, but overlooked (even upon rehearing) the second prong of that test, reflected in the last sentence of article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e) requiring that each payor pay a fee in proportion to its benefits from or burdens on the service or regulatory program for which the fee is imposed. (Opn. at pp. 26–27).¹²

¹² The Opinion does not cite Sinclair Paint, but instead misapplies
California Farm Bureau Federation v. State Water Resources Control Board

The City requested rehearing March 31, 2015, calling attention to the Opinion's conflicts with published law, its failure to apply both prongs of *Sinclair Paint* and the other concerns raised here. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing on April 15, 2015, making minor changes in the Opinion.¹³ The City now seeks review.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE CONFLICTS IN THE APPELLATE CASES

As the trial court correctly concluded, *AmRhein* compels a finding the challenged groundwater charges are property related fees subject to Proposition 218. *Griffith* subsequently confirmed the point. Claiming to distinguish *AmRhein*, the Opinion clashes with three published cases, both recent and settled. Further, the Opinion's reasoning reaches every government fee, removing many from the reach of Proposition 218, construing Proposition 26 to require no more than Proposition 13, and applying *Sinclair Paint's* construction of that earlier measure so leniently as to strip it of much of its

(2011) 51 Cal.4th 421, which does. The Opinion overlooks this Court's direction in *Farm Bureau*, remanding the case for a determination of proper cost apportionment. (*Id.*, p. 442.)

¹³ A copy of the Opinion and Order Modifying the Opinion are attached to this Petition. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.504, subd. (b)(4).)

intended effect. As one of the first cases to construe 2010's Proposition 26, its influence will be great. Accordingly, this case presents an opportunity to resolve conflicts in the law as well as to address constitutional issues of statewide importance.

A. The Opinion Conflicts with Two Opinions Holding Groundwater Extraction Fees Subject to Proposition 218

Two cases apply Proposition 218 to groundwater charges. *AmRhein* addressed groundwater augmentation charges imposed by the Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency. (150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1372.) Like the District's fees, the *AmRhein* fees were based on the volume of groundwater pumped. (*Id.*, at pp. 1385–1386; AR1 62-0036 to -0038.) The *AmRhein* court initially concluded the fees were exempt from Proposition 218 as "regulatory fees" under the rationale of *Apartment Association*. (*Id.*, at p. 1370) However, two days after it filed its decision, this Court decided *Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 205 (*Bighorn*), finding metered charges for water service subject to Proposition 218 notwithstanding that the fees turned on voluntary choices to use water in particular amounts.

Accordingly, the Sixth District granted rehearing to consider the impact of *Bighorn*, which does not analyze *Apartment Association* at any length. Nor has any decision of this Court since, and the tension between *Apartment Association's* reasoning and subsequent Proposition 218 case law remains unresolved.

Struggling to harmonize *Apartment Association* and *Bighorn*, the Sixth District observed the *AmRhein* charge was:

not actually predicated upon the use of water but on its extraction, an activity in some ways more intimately connected with property ownership than is the mere receipt of delivered water.

(*AmRhein, supra,* 150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1391; compare 10 JA, Tab 88 at pp. 2144–2145 [trial court ruling].) Accordingly, that court found such fees subject to Proposition 218. (*AmRhein, supra,* 150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1388, citing *Bighorn, supra,* 39 Cal.4th at p. 205.)

Six years later, the Sixth District reaffirmed this holding as to the same charges. (*Griffith v. Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 586, 595 [*Griffith*].)

On March 26, 2015, the Sixth District published *Great Oaks*. That since-depublished decision applies *AmRhein* and *Griffith* to facts indistinguishable from those here: a water retailer's Proposition 218 challenge to rates set under a statute requiring rates that require non-farm groundwater users to subsidize agriculture. (*Great Oaks, supra,* 2015 WL 1403340 at p. *1 [reversing trial court ruling that groundwater charges subject to election requirement of Cal. Const., article XIII D, § 6, subd. (c) but remanding challenge under proportional cost requirements of *id.*, subd. (b)(3)].) Santa

Clara Valley Water District ("SCVWD") charges petitioner Great Oaks Water Company a fee on groundwater production 10 times that on farmers. (*Ibid.*) The Sixth District concluded the groundwater charge was a fee for a "property related service" both because groundwater rights are property rights and because the voters who approved Proposition 218 understood it to apply to nearly all water service charges. (*Id.* at pp. *11–*12.)

The Petition for Rehearing informed the Second District of Great Oaks but the Court denied rehearing here without addressing the case.¹⁴

B. The Opinion Contradicts AmRhein by Distinguishing Residential and Commercial Water Use Under Proposition 218

The Opinion seeks to distinguish *AmRhein* on the basis of the end use of groundwater: "the fact that a large majority of pumpers [in *AmRhein*] were using the water for residential or domestic uses was dispositive." (Opn. at p. 17; see also Opn. at p. 19 ["[T]he City itself uses the water it pumps for commercial rather than residential purposes."] & p. 21.) However, *AmRhein* rejected this distinction:

¹⁴ The City does not cite *Great Oaks* as precedent here, but only to explain a basis for the petition for rehearing and the Second District's action on that petition.

A charge may be imposed on a person because he owns land, or it may be imposed because he engages in certain activity on his land. A charge of the former type is manifestly imposed as an incident of property ownership. A charge of the latter may not be. This appears to be the distinction Justice Mosk sought to articulate for the court in *Apartment Association*. We doubt that it is satisfactorily captured by a distinction between business and domestic uses or purposes.

(AmRhein, supra, 150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1391, fn. 18, emphasis added.)

Moreover, long-established water rights law demonstrates that the right to use groundwater is itself a property right. (E.g., *Trask v. Moore* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 365, 370; see also *Garden Water Corp. v. Fambrough* (1966) 245 Cal.App.2d 324, 327 [trial court properly found water system for distribution to subdivision was real property]; *Harper v. Buckles* (1937) 19 Cal.App.2d 481, 484–485.)

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