[Service on Attorney General required by Rule 8.29(c)(1)]

2<sup>ND</sup> Civil No. **S226036** 

[Exempt From Filing Fee Government Code § 6103]

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 19 2015

CITY OF SAN BUENAVENTURA, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

Prank A. McGuire Clerk
DepunCRC
8.25(b)

VS.

UNITED WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF UNITED WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT, Appellants and Cross-Respondents,

On Appeal of Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division 6, Case No. B251810

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of Santa Barbara County
Case Nos. VENCI-00401714 and 1414739
Honorable Thomas P. Anderle

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

customers pumping water in lieu of connecting to an existing water delivery network, it was "evident" -- based on information in the record -- that the number was insubstantial.

whether calculated on the basis of consumption or imposed as a fixed monthly fee. (*Bighorn*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 216, 217.) In the absence of a regulatory purpose, and troubled that the large majority of the pump charges were imposed on homeowners and based on estimates rather than actual use, *Pajaro* equated *Bighorn's* fees for ongoing residential water delivery to the *Pajaro* charges for residential groundwater extraction. A similar analogy to *Bighorn* is not possible under the contrasting facts of this case.

Second, in addition to distinguishing *Pajaro*, the Opinion did take exception to one strand of *Pajaro's* reasoning. The *Pajaro* court dismissed the Proposition 218 requirement that property-related fees must be for "service." (*Pajaro, supra,* 150 Cal.App.4th 1389.) The Opinion disagreed: "That is simply an untenable construction of the constitutional text, particularly taken in context." (Opn. at p. 21.) The Opinion then listed the many provisions of article XIII D that expressly refer to *services* and recited the inability of the *Pajaro* pump charge to meet such article XIII D service tests as: actual use by the property owner, immediately available, and not involving potential or future use. (Opn. at pp. 22-23.) The City does not contest the Opinion's analysis on this important Proposition 218 point.

There is nothing about *Pajaro* or the Opinion's treatment of *Pajaro* that warrants review by this Court. The two cases stand on their unique facts for their reconcilable conclusions.

## 3. The Opinion and the *Jacks* Decision are Consistent

The City asserts that the Opinion contradicts an earlier opinion of the same appellate district in *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 925 (*Jacks*), rehearing denied (March 27, 2015), petition for review filed (April 7, 2015). The assertion is wrong.

Jacks is both legally and factually distinguishable. Its bearing on this case is illusory. While Jacks is a Proposition 218 case, it involved article XIII

C relating to voter approval of local government taxes, and not article XIII D relating to property-related fees and charges. (*Id.* at p. 931). Further, the specific question in *Jacks* was whether a 1% surcharge on electrical utilities was a tax that required voter approval under article XIII C, or a franchise fee that did not. (*Jacks*, supra, 234 Cal.App.4th at p. 932.) Relying upon the "primary purpose" test enunciated by this Court in *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Board of Equalization* (1977) 15 Cal.4th 866, the *Jacks* court found that the surcharge bore all the hallmarks of a tax and, in fact, its primary purpose was to generate revenue from electrical users for general spending purposes. Accordingly, *Jacks* held that the surcharge was a tax that required voter approval under Proposition 218. (*Jacks, supra,* 234 Cal.App.4th at p. 933.) *Jacks* further concluded that the surcharge was an "illegal tax masquerading as a franchise fee." (*Id.* at p. 927).

The pump charges here bear no resemblance to the issues or the taxes described in *Jacks*. The City tries in vain to draw a parallel by noting that the illegal fees in *Jacks* were "passed along" by the utility, Southern California Edison, to its customers for payment, much as the City passes along the District's pumping charges to the City's water customers. Yet, this tangential similarity was not a factor in the *Jacks* analysis of whether or not Proposition 218 was applicable to the charges. The *Jacks* ruling simply recognized that the general revenue purpose of a utility user tax could not be hidden through the device of using Southern California Edison as the City's middleman for tax collection. (*Id.* at 934.)

Jacks did not establish an "economic incidence" test replacing or supplementing the primary purpose test for adjudicating a fee to be a tax under Proposition 218. There is no contradiction between the Opinion and Jacks.

The City's contention that either of these cases turns on a "legal versus economic incidence" test is an artifice.<sup>7</sup>

## C. Review is not Needed to Resolve an Important Question of Law

The City also contends that review is necessary to address whether this Court's decision in Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 (Sinclair Paint), as subsequently applied in California Farm Bureau Federation v. State Water Resources Control Board (2011) 51 Cal.4th 421 (Farm Bureau), survives the passage of Proposition 26. The vitality of these rulings was not raised in the Court of Appeal, where the City, as recently as its Petition for Rehearing, referenced both cases and the propositions for which they stand with approval.

The City's newfound vacillation aside, review by this Court is unnecessary to confirm that *Sinclair Paint* and *Farm Bureau* are alive and well. These precedents provide essential, relevant direction for judicial evaluation of whether a government measure is a tax or a regulatory fee. To those who would challenge their currency, the District notes that Proposition 37 was rejected by the voters in November 2000. It would have overruled *Sinclair Paint*. And although neither *Sinclair Paint* nor *Farm Bureau* directly address Proposition 26, as that initiative was not adopted by the voters until November 2010, Proposition 26 borrowed, rather than negated, their controlling wisdom. In addition to broadening the article XIII C definition of "tax," Proposition 26 turned a passage constraining regulatory fees excerpted from *Sinclair Paint* into the present constitutional mandate. (Cal. Const.,

The City asserts that its "legal versus economic incidence" test is also pending before the Court in *Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael* (review granted September 10, 2014). However, that case asks another question entirely; namely whether only taxes assessed directly upon a taxpayer suffice to trigger standing under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a.

articles XIII A, § 3 and XIII C, § 1; Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878, citing San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. San Diego County Air Pollution Control Dist. (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 1132, 1145-1146; Griffith v. City of Santa Cruz (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 982, 996.)8

Farm Bureau provides the instruction that the City seeks. It analyzes the Sinclair Paint language that the drafters of Proposition 26 adopted. The question in Farm Bureau was whether the annual license and permits fees of the State Water Resources Control Board were valid regulatory fees or illegal taxes. The Court first concluded that the fees were regulatory, charged only for specific functions costs linked to issuing, monitoring, enforcing and administering licenses and permits, and not for general revenue purposes. The Court then examined whether the state had produced evidence to show the estimated costs of the regulatory activity, and the basis for determining the manner in which the costs are apportioned, so that charges allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on or benefits from the regulatory activity. The Opinion in the instant case rested on, and recited largely verbatim, Farm Bureau's guiding answer:

A regulatory fee does not become a tax simply because the fee may be disproportionate to the service rendered to individual payors. [Citation.] The question of proportionality is not measured on an individual basis. Rather, it is measured collectively, considering all rate payors. [Citation.] [¶] Thus, permissible fees must be related to the overall cost of the governmental regulation. They need not be finely calibrated to the precise benefit each individual fee payor might derive. What a fee cannot do is exceed the reasonable cost of regulation with the generated surplus used for general revenue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The City bristles that Proposition 26 was a reaction to *Sinclair Paint* and intended to alter its rule. (Petition at p. 23.) The impact of Proposition 26 is its broadening of the constitutional definition of "tax" (Opn. at pp. 7-8), which it accomplished even as it copied *Sinclair Paint's* words.

collection. An excessive fee that is used to generate general revenue becomes a tax. (Opn. at p. 26, citing Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 438.)

The Petition works overtime to ignore Farm Bureau's teaching. Noting that remand was required in that case, the Petition insists that the agency was ordered to provide proof of the proportionality of the charges to the benefits or burdens of each "customer class." (Petition at p. 24.) Not true. As to this so-called "second prong" test, the factual issues on remand were instead stated as: "whether the fees are reasonably related to the total budgeted cost of the Division's 'activity,' keeping in mind that a government agency should be accorded some flexibility in calculating the amount and distribution of a regulatory fee." (Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 442.) The City similarly cites in vain to Sinclair Paint for a purported requirement that the proportionality of a regulatory fee be "fair in toto and as to each class of ratepayers" (Petition at p. 24). Sinclair Paint establishes no such standard.

The City's complaint is not with the continued relevance of *Sinclair Paint* or *Farm Bureau*. Instead, it is with the outcome that these controlling California Supreme Court authorities require. The Opinion correctly applied *Farm Bureau*, holding that substantial record evidence supported the interconnectivity of the District's basins, the impact of each pumper's activity on the others and the reasonable proportionality of the District's fees. "Yet, by imposing fees based upon the volume of water extracted, the District largely does charge individual pumpers in proportion to the benefit they receive from the District's conservation activities. The District ensures water availability District-wide. Large-scale users such as the City receive a far greater benefit from individual landowners who pump water for personal consumption. That is more than is required." (Opn. at p. 26.)

The City remains unwilling to acknowledge that the District's pumpers are charged in lawful proportion to the regulatory benefit that they receive and

to harmonize this Proposition 26 finding with the companion 3:1 fee ratio prescribed by Water Code section 77594. The Opinion properly reconciles both mandates to conclude that the District's groundwater pumping fee is a valid regulatory fee and not an excessive "tax."

## D. Review to Address Dissimilar Trial Court Cases is Unwarranted

The City argues that review should be granted because Proposition 218 and 26 issues are currently under consideration in nine trial courts. (Petition at pp. 35-37.) This argument leaps over the orderly and essential progression of cases from trial through appeal. It plays fast and loose with the proper predicates for review by this Court. It presupposes that the legal determinations of the Court of Appeal on the Proposition 218 and 26 issues based on the record evidence in this case will somehow be dispositive of or inform the decision-making in those other cases. The City's argument is fundamentally flawed.

Proposition 218 cases necessarily turn on their unique facts. For example, water delivery charges for services provided to property owners by municipalities or by water agencies acting as purveyors of water are a far different creature than water extraction fees that do not depend on property ownership. The camouflaged electricity surcharge in the *Jacks* case is an entirely different animal; the issue in that case also addressed a different portion of Proposition 218 than addressed by the Court of Appeal in this case.

The very nature of the agency, municipality or water district responsible for imposing the fee or charge in dispute in a given case may warrant a different analysis and different outcome. There are myriad different types of water districts in the State of California with different mandates, including:

- water conservation districts;
- flood control and water conservation districts;

- municipal water districts;
- county water districts;
- water storage districts;
- irrigation districts;
- water replenishment districts;
- community services districts;
- supply and conservation agencies;
- water quality departments;
- recreation and conservation districts;
- water resources departments;
- water management districts; and
- reclamation districts.

There are over a thousand special water districts in California, with a great diversity of purposes, governance structures and financing mechanisms. Some are governed by a county board of supervisors or city council while others, like the District, are independent with governing boards directly elected by the public. Some provide utility services, such as water services, and waste disposal (sanitation), while others serve safety needs, such as flood control. Still others provide important regulatory functions, such as water conservation or replenishment of depleted or deficient water supplies.

Finally, the nature of the underlying administrative proceeding and evidence in the record may very well dictate different results in the trial court based on the standard of review applicable to administrative decision-making, and hence different results on appeal.

The City's "one size fits all" approach to Proposition 218 and Proposition 26 issues is overly simplistic. This is reason enough for this Court to decide that the cases referenced in the Petition do not present a need for California Supreme Court direction. That conclusion is only amplified by a

case-by-case consideration of the nine cases. Those nine trial courts will not be looking at this case, the *Jacks* case, or the now vacated *Great Oaks* case for direction as the City claims. (Petition at pp. 36-39.)

The two groundwater fee cases cited in the Petition are resolved. North San Joaquin Water Conservation District v. All Persons Interested in the Matter of the Resolution Imposing Groundwater Charge was a validation action. Judgment was issued in that case nearly seven years ago, on July 1, 2008. As the City even admits, the appeal was dismissed and the case was rendered moot by the repeal of the dispute charge. (Petition at p. 36, fn. 20.) As has been widely reported, the one case with at least a passing similarity to this case, City of Cerritos, et al., v. Water Replenishment District of Southern California (Super. Ct. L.A. County, No. BS128136) has settled.

The three matters glibly lumped together in the Petition as "cost of service" cases, Glendale Coalition for Better Government v. City of Glendale, Sweetwater Authority Ratepayers Ass'n, Inc. v. Sweetwater Authority, and Plata v. City of San Jose, concern municipal entities or publicly owned water agencies that are purveyors of waters to residential and business customers. Like recently decided Capistrano Taxpayers Ass'n v. City of San Juan Capistrano (Apr. 20, 2015) \_\_ Cal.App.4th \_\_, 2015 WL 1798898, the first two of those cases involve tiered water rates and are governed by the holding in City of Palmdale v. Palmdale Water Dist. (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 926. The Plata action challenges the transfer of water revenues to the municipal general fund. None of these issues were discussed or decided in the Opinion.

The City's four San Diego trial court matters are described as impinging on the same "economic or legal incidence" question that the Petition never competently raises. But even if that underlying issue were clearly identified for this Court, it is not possible to equate the four San Diego cases with this case. Each of the San Diego matters concerns, on demurrer, whether the plaintiff had standing to challenge such disparate charges as a

tourism marketing assessment, business improvement district fees and a maintenance assessment charge. Neither the facts required to achieve taxpayer standing or the legal threshold for pleading sufficiency are at issue here.

The City's implication that the issues in the nine referenced trial court cases are identical or similar to the questions addressed in the Opinion does not hold water. The City's patchwork of cases involving different Proposition 218 and Proposition 26 issues do not provide grounds for review by this Court and must be rejected.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The District respectfully submits that this Court should decline to review the Opinion, which correctly applies the facts and the controlling law to the District's regulatory pumping charges, which are vital and appropriate to the decades belated efforts of us all to sustain our groundwater.